RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-19-2009

SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

JAMES ZARDER, GLORY ZARDER, and ZACHARY ZARDER, by Robert C. Menard, Guardian Ad Litem, D

District 2

Appeal No. 2008AP919

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

V.

Case No. 07 CV 1146

HUMANA INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant,

ACUITY, A MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

Review of the February 18, 2009 Decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming an Order of the Circuit Court for Waukesha County, the Honorable Kathryn W. Foster Presiding, Denying the Motion for Declaratory Judgment of the Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner, ACUITY, A Mutual Insurance Company

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DOES THE ACUITY POLICY OF INSURANCE MANDATE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE FOR AN ALLEGED "HIT-AND-RUN" ACCIDENT INVOLVING AN UNIDENTIFIED MOTOR VEHICLE AND AN INSURED WHERE THERE IS NO "RUN," AS THAT TERM IS UNDERSTOOD IN THE CONTEXT OF § 632.32(4)?

Answered by the Circuit Court in the affirmative.

This question was not answered by the Court of Appeals. Rather, the Court of Appeals abandoned the public policy analysis undertaken by the Circuit Court, addressing, instead, the issue set forth immediately below.

II. WHEN AN INSURANCE POLICY COVERS "HIT-AND-RUN" AS PART OF AN UNINSURED MOTORIST PROVISION AND THE POLICY DOES NOT DEFINE THE TERM, DOES "RUN" MEAN TO FLEE WITHOUT STOPPING?

This question was not answered directly by the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court affirmatively held there was no "run" in the instant case, instead ruling coverage was available to the Plaintiffs based on public policy grounds.

Answered by the Court of Appeals in the negative. The Court of Appeals concluded the term "run," as used in "hit-and-run," means to leave a scene without providing identifying information.

PROCEDURAL POSTURE

This is a review of a decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, affirming an Order of the Circuit

Court of Waukesha County, denying a Motion for Declaratory Judgment filed by ACUITY.

In filing its Motion for Declaratory Judgment, ACUITY sought a declaration from the Circuit Court regarding the rights of the parties under an ACUITY policy of insurance. The Circuit Court concluded ACUITY's policy provided coverage to the Zarders because the facts and circumstances concerned injury to a minor and damage to the minor's bicycle. A non-final order memorializing the Circuit Court's decision was entered on April 1, 2008.

Subsequently, ACUITY petitioned the Court of Appeals, District II, for leave to appeal from the Circuit Court's non-final order. The Court of Appeals granted ACUITY's petition on or about May 15, 2008.

In a February 18, 2009 Decision, the Court of Appeals, District II, affirmed the Circuit Court's ruling. Abandoning the rationale underlying the Circuit Court's decision, the Court of Appeals concluded that where an insurance policy covers "hit-and-run" as part of an uninsured motorist provision and the policy does not define the term, "run" means leaving the scene without providing identifying information even if the unidentified driver stopped to see if there was an injury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The December 9, 2005 Accident.

The Plaintiffs, James and Glory Zarder, reside at 14285 West Park Avenue, New Berlin. See Complaint at \P 1. (R. 1 at 3; P-Ap. 51) Their son, Zachary Zarder ("Zarder"), resides at the same address. Id. at \P 2.

Regarding the alleged accident, the Complaint states that:

That on the 9th day of December, 2005, the plaintiff, Zachary Zarder, was operating his bicycle in a safe and lawful manner in the City of New Berlin, County of Waukesha, State of Wisconsin and that at the same time and place, an unidentified vehicle was being operated in a negligent manner causing the motor vehicle that he/she was operating to strike the plaintiff, Zachary Zarder's bicycle, causing the plaintiff, Zachary Zarder, to be severely injured as more fully described herein.

Id. at \P 6. (R. 1 at 4; P-Ap. 104)

At the time of the alleged incident, Edward Miller and his wife, Sandra, were walking outside of their residence, which is located in the 2000 block of South East Lane in New Berlin. See Affidavit of Edward Miller at ¶¶ 1-3 (R. 17 at 77; P-Ap. 112) and Affidavit of Sandra Miller at ¶¶ 1-2, 4, 7. (R. 16 at 71-72; P-Ap. 106-107) While walking with her husband, Sandra Miller heard a young male voice state that "a car is coming." See Aff. of S. Miller at ¶ 4. (R. 16 at 71; P-Ap. 106) After hearing the statement, Sandra

Miller observed a vehicle driving east/northeast on South East Lane and, thereafter, heard a crash of metal. Id. at \P 5. The vehicle did not appear to be traveling fast or recklessly. Id. at \P 6.

Within seconds after hearing the crash, Sandra Miller and her husband arrived at the area where the sound occurred. Id. at \P 7. There, the Millers observed Zarder sitting on a snow bank near the mailbox at the end of the driveway at 2000 South East Lane. Id. at \P 7. See also Aff. of E. Miller at \P 6. (R. 17 at 78; P-Ap. 113)

As the Millers reached the spot where Zarder was seated, they observed a vehicle (the "unidentified vehicle") stop approximately one hundred feet north/northeast of the driveway. Id. at ¶ 8. See also Aff. of E. Miller at ¶ 7. (R. 17 at 78; P-Ap. 113) The occupants of the unidentified vehicle exited the vehicle, walked towards Zarder and questioned Zarder concerning his wellbeing. Id. at ¶ 9. The occupants of the unidentified vehicle asked Zarder if he was okay, to which Zarder responded "yes." Id. at ¶ 10. See also Aff. of E. Miller at ¶ 11. (R. 17 at 78; P-Ap. 113)

After Zarder assured the occupants of the unidentified vehicle that he was okay, the occupants returned to the vehicle and drove away. Id. at ¶ 12. See also Aff. of E.

Miller at \P 12. (R. 17 at 78; P-Ap. 113) The unidentified vehicle did not flee the scene. *Id*.

Like the occupants of the unidentified vehicle, Sandra Miller, too, asked Zarder if he was hurt. Zarder responded in the negative, assuring Miller that he was uninjured. Id. at ¶ 13.

Sandra Miller also inquired whether the unidentified vehicle hit Zarder. *Id.* at ¶ 14. Zarder informed Miller that the unidentified vehicle did not hit him and, rather, hit his bike. According to Zarder, he jumped off of his bicycle before the unidentified vehicle hit the bike. *Id.* After Zarder again assured Miller that he was uninjured, Miller and her husband continued to their neighbors' home. *Id.* at ¶ 15, 18. See *also* Aff. of E. Miller at ¶ 14. (R. 17 at 79; P-Ap. 114)

Accident report materials authored by the New Berlin Police Department note, in the Accident Report's "Narrative" section, that:

UNKNOWN DRIVER OF VEH. # 1 CHECKED ON BICYCLIST WHO ADVISED THAT HE WAS NOT INJURED.

Affidavit of Jeffrey Kuehl, Exh. A. (R. 21 at 165-183; P-Ap. 87-105) Additional information detailed in the same report reveals that Zachary Zarder confirmed the occupants of the vehicle "immediately checked on his wellbeing[,]"

and Zarder "told the occupants of the vehicle that he was not injured and that they could leave." *Id*. For these reasons, the New Berlin Police Department did not investigate the December 9, 2005, accident as a hit-and-run accident. *Id*. at ¶5.

2. The ACUITY Policy.

ACUITY issued a policy of insurance to the Zarders with a policy term of August 15, 2005 to August 15, 2006 (the "ACUITY Policy"). See Affidavit of Daniel K. Miller, Exh. A. (R. 19 at 101-144; P-Ap. 119-163) The ACUITY Policy contains requirements relating to the provision of uninsured motorists coverage. Specifically, the ACUITY Policy provides that:

SECTION III - UNINSURED MOTORISTS AND UNDERINSURED MOTORISTS

PART H - UNINSURED MOTORISTS

We will pay damages for bodily injury which an insured person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle. Bodily injury must be sustained by an insured person and must be caused by accident and result from the ownership, maintenance or use of the uninsured motor vehicle . . .

Id., Exh. B at Page 19 of 24 (emphasis in original). (R. 19
at 124; P-Ap. 143).

Under its Uninsured Motorists coverage part, the ACUITY Policy contains a detailed definition of "uninsured

motor vehicle." "Uninsured motor vehicle" includes various categories of vehicle, including "hit-and-run" vehicles. In this regard, the ACUITY Policy states that:

As used in this Section:

* * *

2. "Uninsured motor vehicle" means a land motor
vehicle or trailer which is:

* * *

- c. A hit-and-run vehicle whose operator or owner is unknown and which strikes:
 - (1) You or a relative;
 - (2) A vehicle which you or a relative
 are occupying;
 - (3) Your insured car; or
 - (4) Another vehicle which, in turn, hits:
 - (a) You or any relative;
 - (b) A vehicle which you or any
 relative are "occupying"; or
 - (c) Your insured car

Id., Exh. B at Page 19 of 24 and 20 of 24 (emphasis in original). (R. 19 at 124-125; P-Ap. 143-144)

3. Procedural Background.

The Zarders commenced the underlying circuit court action against ACUITY to obtain uninsured motorist benefits. See Complaint. (R. 1; P-Ap 49-57). The Zarders alleged two principal claims against ACUITY, an uninsured motorist claim and a bad faith claim. Id.

On January 11, 2008, ACUITY filed its Motion for Declaratory Judgment in the Circuit Court. See Notice of

Motion and Motion for Declaratory Judgment. (R. 14; P-Ap 65-66) In its motion, ACUITY sought a no coverage declaration in connection with the Zarders' claims. See Brief in Support of Motion for Declaratory Judgment. (R. 15; P-Ap 67-86) As grounds for its request, ACUITY argued the facts and circumstances giving rise to the action did not evidence a "hit-and-run" accident, as that phrase is understood under Wisconsin law and, by proxy, the ACUITY Policy. Id.

The Zarders opposed ACUITY's motion. See Plaintiffs' Memo. of Law in Oppos'n. (R. 23; P-Ap 184-195) Contrary to ACUITY's position, the Zarders argued the December 9, 2005 accident was a "hit-and-run" accident. Id. As support, the Zarders relied on case law construing the policy Wisconsin underpinning Statute S 632.32, extrajurisdictional case law purportedly analyzing similar "run" issues and Wisconsin Statute § 346.67. Id. 1

On February 29, 2008, ACUITY filed a Reply Brief, wherein ACUITY argued the December 9, 2005 incident was not a "hit-and-run" accident because no "run" occurred, extrajurisdictional authority relied on by the Zarders did not support the Zarders' position and, finally, § 346.67

¹ The Zarders did not dispute the facts detailed by ACUITY in its Motion for Declaratory Judgment, nor did the Zarders dispute that declaratory judgment was an appropriate vehicle for use by the Circuit Court in addressing the issues before it.

had no application to the present action. See Reply Brief (R. 26; P-Ap 218-228)

On March 17, 2008, the Circuit Court heard arguments on ACUITY's Motion for Declaratory Judgment. See Transcript of Proceedings. (R. 28; P-Ap 23-48) After considering the parties' arguments, the trial court denied ACUITY's Motion for Declaratory Judgment. Id. at 23. (R. 28 at 254; P-Ap 45)

In making its ruling, the Circuit Court interpreted the ACUITY policy of insurance only insofar as it incorporates language detailed in the Wisconsin Omnibus statute, specifically, § 632.32(4). *Id.* at 15 (R. 28 at 246; P-Ap 37) The Circuit Court concluded the dispute did not involve an issue as to whether there was a "hit." *Id.* at 16. (R. 28 at 247; P-Ap 38) Moreover, the trial court unequivocally ruled that "clearly there was no run under any definition of ambiguous, unambiguous." *Id.* at 19. (R. 28 at 250; P-Ap 41) (emphasis added).

The Circuit Court described the case as one of "first impression," notwithstanding this Court's decision in Hayne v. Progressive Northern Insurance Company, 115 Wis. 2d 68, 339 N.W.2d 588 (1983). Id. at 21. (R. 28 at 252; P-Ap 43) After deciding there was no "run," the Circuit Court stated that "[i]n terms of public policy, I think what I am

struggling with, if you will, is the fact that I believe there has to be coverage in the case." Id. at 20. (R. 28 at 251; P-Ap 42) The Circuit Court concluded coverage was necessary "not because there was a claim but because we are dealing with a child and because of the nature of the accident, if you will, the damage to the bike." Id.

Confining its decision to the limited facts of the present dispute, the Circuit Court stated that:

The fact that here is the Massachusetts or the Mendonca case that I think is favorable to the Plaintiff and in my assessment of the facts of case the reason we have this kind statute, not only keeping in mind a prohibition of fraud to insurance companies but the purpose of that statute is to protection of persons who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles. The question - the argument that the reason this court is in effect finding that this unidentified vehicle is synonymous with uninsured is partially or totally the fault of the plaintiff here, the thirteen year old, but that's a hard label to stick on someone who is thirteen and who has just suffered a substantial injury, two bones in any body or two parts of the body and I don't think that that is equitable with protecting people in the case and so I believe for purposes of 632.32 does trump anything else, if you will, as a need for specific facts in the case and for all those reasons the Court will deny the motion of the defense . . .

Id. at 22-23. (R. 28 at 253-254; P-Ap 44-45)

ACUITY petitioned the Court of Appeals, District II, for leave to appeal from the Circuit Court's April 1, 2008

non-final Order. The Court of Appeals granted ACUITY's petition on or about May 15, 2008.

In a February 18, 2009 decision, the Court of Appeals, District II, affirmed the ruling of the Circuit Court. The Court of Appeals framed the issue before it in the following manner:

What does run mean when an insurance policy covers "hit-and-run" as part of an uninsured motorist provision and the policy does not define the term? Does run mean to flee without stopping, or does it mean leaving the scene without providing identifying information even if the driver stopped to see if there was an injury? We hold that the latter definition controls and affirm the circuit court.

Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co., 2009 WI App. 34, ¶ 1, 316 Wis. 2d 573, 765 N.W.2d 839. Whereas the Circuit Court relied solely on public policy grounds in support of its ruling, the Court of Appeals ignored the Circuit Court's analysis and affirming the Circuit Court ruling, based upon contractual and statutory construction methodology.

ARGUMENT

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"Statutory interpretation and the interpretation of an insurance policy present questions of law that we review de novo." Teschendorf v. State Farm Ins. Cos., 2006 WI 89, \P 9, 293 Wis. 2d 123, 717 N.W.2d 258 (2006).

- III. WISCONSIN SHOULD ADHERE TO THE DEFINTION OF "HIT-AND-RUN" IN HAYNE V. PROGRESSIVE NORTHERN INSURANCE COMPANY, 115 WIS. 2D 68, 339 N.W.2D 588 (1983) AND CONCLUDE THAT WHEN AN INSURANCE POLICY COVERS "HIT-AND-RUN" AS PART OF AN UNINSURED MOTORIST PROVISION AND THE POLICY DOES NOT DEFINE THE TERM, "RUN" MEANS TO FLEE WITHOUT STOPPING.
 - A. Hayne v. Progressive Northern Insurance Company Expressly Defines The "Run" Component Of The Term "Hit-and-Run" As "Fleeing From The Scene Of An Accident."

In Hayne v. Progressive Northern Insurance Company, 115 Wis. 2d 68, 339 N.W.2d 588 (1983), this Court defined the term "hit-and-run," including both components "hit" and "run," for purposes of Wisconsin's Omnibus statute and policies of insurance incorporating the same. ACUITY submits Hayne's definition of the term compels a finding in ACUITY's favor relative to the insurance coverage issue before the Court.

The statutory language at issue in *Hayne* was "the term 'hit-and-run' as used in sec. 632.32(4)(a)2.b., Stats." *Hayne*, 115 Wis. 2d at 73. The question for the *Hayne* court was "whether the term 'hit-and-run' includes 'miss-and-run' or whether it requires an actual physical striking." *Id*.

Out of the gate, the *Hayne* court concluded that the statutory language of Wis. Stat. § 632.32(4)(a)2.b. - including the term "hit-and-run" - "is unambiguous." *Id.* at

74 (emphasis added). 2 See also DeHart v. Wis. Mut. Ins. Co., 2007 WI 91, ¶ 13, 302 Wis. 2d 564, 734 N.W.2d 394 (stating that "[w]e have interpreted Wis. Stat. § 632.32(4)(a)2.b. in prior cases and recently reaffirmed our 20-plus years of precedent establishing that the phrase 'hit-and-run accident' is unambiguous and includes a physical contact element"). Having reached this conclusion, the Hayne court assessed the "legislature's intent by according the language its common and accepted meaning." Id. (citing State v. Engler, 80 Wis. 2d 402, 406, 259 N.W.2d at 97 (1977)). In doing so, the *Hayne* court concluded specifically that "the common and accepted meaning of the term 'hit-and-run' includes an element of physical contact." Id.

_

Every policy of insurance subject to the section that insures with respect to any motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state against loss resulting from liability imposed by law for bodily injury or death suffered by any person arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle shall contain therein or supplemental thereto the following provisions:

* * *

² Wis. Stat. § 632.32(4)(a)2.b. provides that:

⁽⁴⁾ REQUIRED UNINSURED MOTORIST AND MEDICAL PAYMENTS COVERAGES.

⁽a) Uninsured motorist.

b. An unidentified motor vehicle involved in a hit-and-run accident.

To accord the statutory language with the common and approved usage of words and phrases therein, the *Hayne* court employed a series of dictionary definitions that the Court reasoned "clearly indicate that the plain meaning of 'hit-and-run' consists of two elements: a 'hit' or striking, and a 'run', or fleeing from the scene of an accident." *Id.* at 73-74. The *Hayne* court placed specific reliance on the following definitions:

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1074 (1961) defines "hit-and-run" as "2a(1) of the driver of a vehicle: quilty of leaving the scene an accident without stopping to render assistance or to comply with legal requirements (2): caused by, resulting from, or involving a hit-and-run driver . . . " Webster's then refers to a "hit-and-run driver" in the definition of "hit-and-runner": "one that hits and runs away; esp: a "hit-and-run driver." Id. "Hit" is defined as "to reach or get at by striking with or as if with a sudden blow." (Emphasis added.) Id. The American Heritage Dictionary 625 (1979) defines "hit-and-run" as "designating or involving the driver of a motor vehicle who drives on after pedestrian or another vehicle." striking a (Emphasis added.) Fund and Wagnall's Standard College Dictionary 636 (1968) provides definition of "hit-and-run": "designating, characteristic of, or caused by the driver of a vehicle who illegally continues on his way after hitting a pedestrian or another vehicle." (Emphasis added.) "Hit" is defined as "to give a blow to; strike forcibly." (Emphasis added.) Id at 636.

and a 'run', or fleeing from the accident scene." Id. at 75.

ACUITY submits the Hayne court undertook to define "hit-and-run" in a global fashion and it is this definition that is pertinent to the construction of both the ACUITY Omnibus Policy and the statute. The Hayne court affirmatively concluded that "632.32(4)(a)2.b., Stats., is unambiguous," remarking further that the subsection is "clear on its face." Id. at 76. Twenty-plus years of legal precedent in Wisconsin is aligned with the Hayne court's conclusion in this respect, and it is wellsettled that the term "hit-and-run" is unambiguous. See DeHart, 2007 WI 91 at \P 13 (citations omitted).

Whether construing a statute or a contract, the test for determining whether ambiguity exists is the same. Wilke v. First Federal Sav. & Loan Asso., 108 Wis. 2d 650, 654, 323 N.W.2d 179 (Ct. App. 1982) (citing Security Savings & Loan Association v. Wauwatosa Colony, Inc., 71 Wis. 2d 174, 179, 237 N.W.2d 729 (1976)). "Ambiguity exists when a statute or contract 'is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in either of two or more senses.'" Id.

Because this Court has ruled the term "hit-and-run" is unambiguous, that finding controls, irrespective of whether

the discussion concerns the ACUITY Policy or, alternatively, the Omnibus statute. Hayne ascribed meaning to "hit-and-run," and it is the plain meaning of that term and its component parts that, when viewed in connection with the historical facts of this case, compels a finding of no insurance coverage to the Zarders.

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