RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-10-2009

SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

JAMES ZARDER, GLORY ZARDER, and ZACHARY ZARDER, by Robert Appeal No. 2008AP919 C. Menard, Guardian Ad Litem,

District 2

Plaintiffs-Respondents Waukesha County Circuit

Court Case No. 07CV1146

-vs-

HUMANA INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant,

ACUITY, A MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

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

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court has set forth the following standard applicable to this review; "Statutory interpretation and the interpretation of an insurance policy present questions of law that we review de novo." Teschendorf v. State Farm Insurance Companies, 2006 WI 89, at ¶ 9, 293 Wis.2d 123, 717 N.W.2d 258 (2006). See also Folkman v. Quamme, 2003 WI 116, ¶16, 264 Wis.2d 617, 665 N.W.2d 857.

II. THE DECEMBER 9, 2005 AUTOMOBILE/BICYCLE ACCIDENT WAS A "HIT-AND-RUN" ACCIDENT PURSUANT TO WISCONSIN LAW, SPECIFICALLY WIS. STAT. §632.32(4).

This Court has stated,

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a)2.b., hit-and-run accidents are included within the statutorily mandated uninsured motor vehicle coverage. A hit-and-run occurs when three elements are satisfied: (1) there is an unidentified motor vehicle; (2) the unidentified vehicle is involved in a hit; and (3) the unidentified motor vehicle "runs" from the scene of the accident. Smith v. General Casualty Insurance Company, 2000 WI 127 at ¶ 10, 239 Wis.2d 646, 619 N.W.2d 882 (citing Theis v. Midwest Sec. Ins. Co., 2000 WI 15 at ¶ 14-16, 232 Wis.2d 749, 606 N.W.2d 162).

Acuity does not dispute that the December 9, 2005 automobile/bicycle accident involved an unidentified motor vehicle nor does it dispute that the unidentified motor vehicle was involved in a "hit" with Zachary Zarder's

bicycle. Acuity's argument for denying UM coverage is that the "run" element was not met in the December 9, 2005 accident.

Wisconsin case law had not specifically addressed the "run" element, until the Court of Appeals published decision of this case, <u>Zarder v. Humana Insurance Company</u>, 2009 WI App. 34, 316 Wis.2d 573, 765 N.W.2d 839.

However, Acuity cites to, and argues from, a Wisconsin Supreme Court case that mentions, without analysis, a definition of "run". The Supreme Court case is <u>Hayne v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co.</u>, 115 Wis.2d 68, 73-74, 339 N.W.2d 588 (1983). Acuity uses this case for the premise that a "run" is a "fleeing from the scene of the accident". See Petitioner's Brief, pgs. 12-16. This Court's use of the phrase "fleeing from the scene of the accident" as a definition of "run" in Hayne is dicta.

This Court has previously stated that "Dicta is a statement or language expressed in a court's opinion which extends beyond the facts in the case and is broader than necessary and not essential to the determination of the issues before it." State v. Sartin, 200 Wis.2d 47, 60 at n. 7, 546 N.W.2d 449 (1996).

In <u>Hayne</u>, "The **sole issue** on appeal is whether sec. 632.32(4)(a)2.b., Stats., requires uninsured motorist

coverage for an accident involving an insured's vehicle and an unidentified motor vehicle when there was **no physical contact** between the two vehicles." <u>Id</u>., at 69 (Emphasis Added).

In <u>Hayne</u>, this Court took up, discussed and decided the issue of whether or not physical contact must occur for there to be uninsured motorist insurance coverage pursuant to Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a)2.b. This Court's definition for the term "hit" was germane to deciding this issue. For this reason, the Court thoroughly analyzed "hit" and applied a definition that it felt was appropriate.

This Court's definition of "run" in <u>Hayne</u> was not germane to the physical contact issue. This Court provided no analysis to support its selection of the phrase "fleeing from the scene of the accident" over other quoted definitions of "hit-and-run". Furthermore, this Court provided no explanation of why it even selected a phrase to define "run" when addressing the physical contact issue.

Acuity asks, ". . . if the <u>Hayne</u> Court's definition of the "run" component of "hit-and-run" was an "off-the-cuff"

These definitions varied from ". . guilty of leaving the scene of an accident without stopping to render assistance or to comply with legal requirements . .", ". . . designating or involving the driver of a motor vehicle who drives on after striking a pedestrian or another vehicle . . .", and ". . . designating, characteristic of, or caused by the driver of a vehicle who illegally continues on his way after hitting a pedestrian or another vehicle . . ." Id., at 73.

statement, as suggested by the Court of Appeals, why take the affirmative step of applying meaning to "run" in the first place?" Petitioner's Brief at pages 17-18.

Acuity's question is rhetorical because <u>Hayne</u> does not provide an explanation why it briefly selected a definition for "run" when "run" was not germane to the issue at hand.

Acuity further claims "It is undisputed that the operator of the unidentified vehicle did not "flee" from the scene." Petitioner's Brief at page 16. Zarders dispute this.

If this Court is so inclined to accept Acuity's definition that "run" is "fleeing from the scene of an accident", then this Court will need to provide some guidance regarding what is necessary for a "flee" to have occurred.

"Flee" is a relative term. In previous arguments filed by Acuity, it has equated "flees" with the relative phrase "swiftly away". See P-Ap. 78.

Due to their relative meanings, it is difficult, if not impossible, to establish consistent UM insurance coverage results with the use of these terms. For example, exactly how fast does a motor vehicle have to travel before a reasonable insured would consider it to be moving "swiftly away"? Would a motor vehicle have to leave the scene of an

accident faster than a human being could walk? Would the vehicle have to travel faster than a human being can run? Would a vehicle be moving "swiftly away" if it was traveling faster than one mile per hour over the posted speed limit? Would the vehicle have to be traveling twice the speed limit? The hypotheticals could go on forever because the relativeness of "flee" or move "swiftly away" is susceptible to numerous reasonable meanings. In other words, these are ambiguous terms.

Furthermore, what if an unidentified motor vehicle "stops" after committing a "hit"? Would this eliminate the possibility that the unidentified motor vehicle ran, fled, or moved swiftly away from the scene of the accident after stopping?

Acuity's position, if accepted, would do nothing but encourage further UM insurance coverage disputes regarding "hit-and-run" accidents as there would be no logical "bright line" rule regarding when UM insurance coverage would apply or would not apply and, in many circumstances, would likely lead to absurd results. See, Teschendorf, at ¶¶ 11-43 (discussion of statutory ambiguity and statutory plain meaning that leads to absurd results).

Due to the absence of Wisconsin case law (other than the Court of Appeals decision in Zarder) regarding analysis

of the issue of "run" in a "hit-and-run" UM insurance coverage dispute, this Court must interpret Wisconsin statutes, specifically Wis. Stat. §632.32(4).

Wis. Stat. §632.32(4) states in relevant part,

REQUIRED UNINSURED MOTORIST AND MEDICAL PAYMENTS COVERAGES. Every policy of insurance subject to this section that insures with respect to any motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state against loss resulting from liability imposed by law for bodily injury or death suffered by any person arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle shall contain therein or supplemental thereto provisions approved by the commissioner:

- (a) Uninsured motorist. 1. For the protection of persons injured who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including death resulting therefrom, in limits of at least \$25,000 per person and \$50,000 per accident. . .
- 2. In this paragraph, "uninsured motor vehicle" also includes:
- a. An insured motor vehicle if before or after the accident the liability insurer of the motor vehicle is declared insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction.
- b. An unidentified motor vehicle involved in a hit-and-run accident. *Id*.

Unfortunately, Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a)2.b. does not define "hit-and-run" accident. However, §632.32(4)(a)(1) sets forth the purpose of UM insurance coverage. The purpose of coverage is, "[f]or the protection of persons

injured who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles . . ." Id.

The Wisconsin legislature decided to include unidentified motor vehicles involved in a "hit-and-run" accident as uninsured motor vehicles for the purposes of uninsured motorist coverage. See, Id.

If uninsured motorist coverage was not available to insureds that were injured by unidentified motor vehicles in "hit-and-run" accidents, then insureds would be unable to seek recovery for damages caused by the unidentified motorist's negligence. This would create a gap in insurance coverage. Wis. Stat. §632.32's inclusion of "hit-and-run" was meant to provide increased coverage to injured insureds, not restrict coverage available to them.

However, this Court has declined UM insurance coverage for "miss-and-run" accidents due to this Court's public policy concern of fraud.

In Smith v. General Casualty Insurance Company, 2000 WI 127 at ¶ 25, 239 Wis.2d 646, 619 N.W.2d 882, this Court addressed two public policy concerns arising from unidentified motor vehicles involved in "hit-and-run" accidents:

One public policy concern is of primary relevance to our analysis, that of preventing fraud. The physical contact element unambiguously included in the term "hit-and-run" in Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a)2.b. prevents fraudulent claims from

being brought by an insured driver who is involved in an accident of his or her own making.

the circumstances of this case, physical contact has been applied by unidentified motor vehicle to an intermediate motor vehicle and then transmitted through to the insured's vehicle, and where this physical contact may be confirmed in such a way as to provide safeguards against fraud, this purpose for the physical contact requirement is satisfied. Id., at \P 25, citing Theis, 2000 WI 15 at \P 30, n. 10.

This Court further addressed the second public policy concern mandating UM insurance coverage in "hit-and-run" accidents as follows:

An additional policy concern is that the purpose of the statutorily mandated uninsured motorist Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a) coverage in compensate an injured person who is the victim of an uninsured motorist's negligence to the same extent as if the uninsured motorist were insured." Here, if the vehicle that negligently started the chain reaction collision had been identified and was insured, Smith could have recovered under that Thus, by interpreting the statute to mandate coverage in the present case, Smith would be compensated "to the same extent as if the uninsured motorist was insured." Id., at ¶ 26.

In this case it is undisputed that the unidentified motor vehicle hit Zachary Zarder's bicycle. Therefore, the public policy concern of fraud expressed in <u>Smith</u> is not present. Rather, the public policy concern of mandating UM coverage pursuant to Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a) prevails in this case.

Zarders have paid their premium payments to Acuity for UM insurance coverage. As mandated by Wis. Stat. §632.32(4)(a), damages sustained by Zarders as a result of an unidentified motor vehicle involved in a "hit-and-run" accident are recoverable by Zarders pursuant to their UM insurance coverage with Acuity.

Wisconsin case law (other than the Court of Appeals decision in Zarder) has not specifically addressed the "run" issue. However, the three elements constituting a "hit-andrun" accident are (1) an unidentified motor vehicle, (2) causes a "hit", and (3) "runs". See Smith, at ¶10. unidentified motorist leaves the scene of an accident, regardless of the speed of the unidentified motor vehicle, a "run" has occurred and an insurer is required to provide UM insurance coverage to its insureds. Whether or not the unidentified motorist stopped before leaving the scene of the accident is irrelevant. All three elements have occurred in this December 9, 2005 motor vehicle/bicycle accident involving Zachary Zarder. Therefore, Acuity is required to provide UM insurance coverage to the Zarders.

III. IN THE DECEMBER 9, 2005 AUTOMOBILE/BICYCLE ACCIDENT, THE UNIDENTIFIED MOTORIST WAS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE ZACHARY ZARDER WITH IDENTIFYING INFORMATION PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT. §346.67(1).

Wis. Stat. §346.67(1) states in relevant part:

The operator of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to . . . any person or in damage to a vehicle which is driven . . . by any person shall immediately stop such vehicle at the scene of the accident . . . and in every event shall remain at the scene of the accident until the operator has fulfilled the following requirements:

- (a) The operator shall give his or her name, address and the registration number of the vehicle he or she is driving to the person struck or to the operator or occupant of or person attending any vehicle collided with; and
- (b) The operator shall, upon request and if available, exhibit his or her operator's license to the person struck or to the operator or occupant of or person attending any vehicle collided with; and
- The operator shall render to any person (C) injured in such accident reasonable assistance, including the carrying, or the making of arrangements for the carrying, of such person to a physician, surgeon hospital for medical or surgical treatment if apparent that such treatment necessary or if such carrying is requested by the injured person. Id.

Wis. Stat. §346.66 states, in part, that ". . . [346.67 to 346.70] do not apply to private parking areas at farms or single-family residences or to accidents involving only

snowmobiles, all-terrain vehicles or **vehicles propelled by human power** or drawn by animals." *Id*. (Emphasis added).

The December 9, 2005 automobile/bicycle accident did not involve **only** a bicycle. It involved a motor vehicle **and** a bicycle. Therefore, Wis. Stat. §346.67(1) applies to this type of accident.²

The unidentified motorist that caused the December 9, 2005 motor vehicle accident was required, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §346.67(1), to provide Zachary Zarder with identifying information before the unidentified motorist left the scene of the accident.

The fact that the New Berlin Police Department did not investigate the December 9, 2005 motor vehicle accident as a "hit-and-run" accident is irrelevant to whether or not Wis. Stat. §346.67(1) was violated.

Acuity argues at pages 36-37 of Petitioner's Brief that §632.32(4)(a)2.b. and §346.67 are not in pari materia.

This Court has stated, "In pari materia refers to statutes relating to the same subject matter or having the same common purpose. (Citation omitted). As a rule of statutory construction, in pari materia requires the Court to read, apply and construe statutes relating to the same

² Acuity's initial argument was that Wis. Stat. §346.67 could not apply because Zachary Zarder was operating a bicycle when it was struck by a motor vehicle, but Acuity has subsequently abandoned that argument. See, P-AP. 84.

subject matter together." <u>Beard v. Lee Enterprises, Inc.</u>,
225 Wis.2d 1, 12 at n.7, 591 N.W.2d 156 (1999).

Regardless of whether or not §632.32(4)(a)2.b. and §346.67 are *in pari materia*, this Court is not prohibited from analyzing Wis. Stat. §346.67 when determining a definition for "run".

As indicated by the Court of Appeals,

The hit-and-run statute, Wis. Stat. provides the clearer guidance we seek as to what the legislature meant by the term "run" in "hitand-run". The legislature is presumed to enact statutory provisions with full knowledge existing laws. Hayne, 115 Wis.2d 84. When the legislature added the "hit-and-run" provision, subparagraph (4)(a)2.b., to the Omnibus statute, Wis. Stat. §632.32, the rules of the road chapter had included a hit-and-run statute for over twenty See §346.67 (1957); 1979 Wis. Act 102, § years. 171 (repealing Wis. Stat. §632.32 and recreating it with subsection (4)(a)2.b.). Therefore, we presume that the legislature had full knowledge of the requirements in the "hit-and-run" statute when it repeated that phrase in §632.32(4)(a)2.b." See Zarder at ¶ 30.

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